

# BMJ Open Adverse events associated with human papillomavirus vaccines: a protocol for systematic review with network meta-analysis incorporating all randomised controlled trials comparing with placebo, adjuvants and other vaccines

Jiro Takeuchi,<sup>1</sup> Hisashi Noma,<sup>2</sup> Yuta Sakanishi,<sup>3,4</sup> Takashi Kawamura<sup>5</sup>

**To cite:** Takeuchi J, Noma H, Sakanishi Y, *et al*. Adverse events associated with human papillomavirus vaccines: a protocol for systematic review with network meta-analysis incorporating all randomised controlled trials comparing with placebo, adjuvants and other vaccines. *BMJ Open* 2019;**9**:e026924. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026924

► Prepublication history for this paper is available online. To view these files, please visit the journal online (<http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026924>).

Received 26 September 2018  
Revised 14 July 2019  
Accepted 17 July 2019



© Author(s) (or their employer(s)) 2019. Re-use permitted under CC BY-NC. No commercial re-use. See rights and permissions. Published by BMJ.

For numbered affiliations see end of article.

## Correspondence to

Dr Jiro Takeuchi;  
zi-takeuchi@hyo-med.ac.jp

## ABSTRACT

**Introduction** Adverse events following the injection (AEFIs) of human papillomavirus vaccine (HPVv) among female adolescents are still a major public health concern.

**Methods** According to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis extension statement for systematic reviews incorporating network meta-analyses, all prospective randomised trials will be included. The primary outcome for adverse events is topical pain during the observation period.

We will mainly search 17 electronic databases from January 2000 through September 2019 with suitable Medical Subject Headings and text words for PubMed. Two reviewers will independently check the reports at the title/abstract level and identify potentially applicable studies. Then we will obtain their full texts and decide whether to include them based on the same eligible criteria.

We will compare HPVv with placebo, HPVv with adjuvant and HPVv with other vaccines. Interstudy heterogeneity, publication biases or small study effects will be evaluated using conventional meta-analysis methods. The consistency of the network will be checked using tests for local and global inconsistency and the side-splitting method. To address the heterogeneity of treatment effects among the studies, we will use the multivariable random effect model.

**Ethics and dissemination** This pairwise or network meta-analysis does not require ethics approval. The data used here are not individual nor private. We will be able to determine which component of the vaccine induces adverse events, especially topical pain. This systematic review with network meta-analysis will provide valid answers regarding AEFIs for HPVv.

**PROSPERO registration number** CRD42018109265

## BACKGROUND

Adverse events following injection (AEFIs) of human papillomavirus vaccine (HPVv) in female adolescents have been reported nationwide by various media outlets, and they are still a major public health problem in

## Strengths and limitations of this study

- We will perform network meta-analysis to integrate direct evidence with indirect evidence to compare human papillomavirus vaccine (HPVv) with placebo, HPVv with adjuvant and HPVv with other vaccines.
- We will employ search strategy with 17 electronic databases and 21 clinical trial database or registries, to suppress publication bias as much as possible.
- We will clarify 12 relevant clinical questions with several sensitivity analyses.
- We will not collect real life data, and we try to ascertain only component associated with adverse events limited in clinical trial.

Japan.<sup>1</sup> Persistent pain and motor disorders associated with vaccines are often considered immune abnormalities or psychosomatic disorders. However, some researchers suspect them to be associated with complex regional pain syndrome or postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome.<sup>2</sup> In 2013, the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan stated that the causes of these adverse events could not be specified merely based on the following epidemiological reports.<sup>3</sup>

First, the US' report in 2009, after the distribution of quadrivalent human papillomavirus (types 6, 11, 16 and 18) recombinant vaccine (qHPVv; Gardasil), described that the incidence of adverse events following immunisation was 53.9 per 100 000 doses, which included 772 (6.2% of total events) serious AEFIs. AEFIs offer more often following vaccination with HPVv than with other vaccines, such as for influenza vaccine, pneumococcal conjugate vaccine, Japanese encephalitis and diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine.<sup>4</sup> Second, Lu, *et al* reported that no significantly increased

risk of severe AEFIs and no vaccine-related serious AEFIs were found (relative risk (95% CI) of 1.00 (0.91 to 1.09) and 1.82 (0.79 to 4.20), respectively) in a meta-analysis of seven randomised control trials (RCTs).<sup>5</sup> HPVv is now unrecommended even though it was once obliged in 2013 because of the social anxiety in Japan. Even in the USA, a leading country in prevention of vaccine-preventable diseases, there was only 49.5% coverage of Human papillomavirus vaccination series among female adolescents in 2016.<sup>6</sup> Considering that the rates of cervical cancer may increase with time,<sup>7</sup> it is urgent to confirm the safety of HPV vaccination.

HPVv is composed of virus-like particles (VLPs) and an adjuvant, stabiliser and buffer. Among these components, both amorphous aluminium hydroxyphosphate sulfate (AAHS) and aluminium hydroxide (Al(OH)<sub>3</sub>) are known to increase the risk of AEFIs. Monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) combined with Al(OH)<sub>3</sub> is used as an adjuvant in Cervarix (GlaxoSmithKline plc).<sup>8,9</sup> Cervarix, which contains MPL, boosts serum antibody titre to a greater extent than Gardasil (Merck & Co.) or Gardasil9 (Merck & Co.), both of which contain only Al(OH)<sub>3</sub> as an adjuvant. Therefore, it is important to determine whether the components of the vaccines, including vaccine adjuvants and VLPs, are harmful, even if the adverse events were caused by the HPVv itself. However, ongoing studies have yet to answer these questions.

Owing to the above-mentioned reasons, we will conduct a network meta-analysis that allows simultaneous comparison of various types of vaccinations, adjuvants and placebos while preserving the merits of randomisation within a single analysis.<sup>10</sup> Using this method, we will integrate direct evidence (from direct comparison) and indirect evidence (from common comparator evaluation) to observe the whole picture across all vaccinations.<sup>11</sup>

## Objective

We inspect AEFI among the participants of RCTs, including those vaccinated with HPVv and those vaccinated with other vaccinations, adjuvants or placebos. The aspects to be addressed in this systematic review are as follows: participants, participants of RCTs; intervention, vaccination with HPVvs; control, vaccinated with other HPVvs or other vaccinations, adjuvants or placebos; and outcomes, AEFI (PICO).

## METHODS

Our meta-analysis will be conducted following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic review and Meta-Analysis Protocols 2015 as a guide of systematic review and meta-analysis protocol.<sup>12</sup> Similarly, based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis extension statement, the methods of this systematic review have been explicated to report systematic reviews incorporating network meta-analyses of healthcare interventions (online supplementary file).<sup>13</sup>

This protocol was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews.<sup>14</sup>

## Criteria for included studies

### Study design

All prospective RCTs, including those with crossover design and cluster randomisation trials, will be included. However, quasi-randomised trials (eg, those allocating participants to the intervention arms alternately) will be excluded. Trials with a small sample size will be included to avoid publication bias.

### Participants

We will include all trials which look at AEFI, including those with participants diagnosed with comorbid immune deficiency disorders, such as HIV infection. These participants will also be included in a separate subgroup analysis. However, we will exclude trials that did not examine adverse events in the control participants, who did not receive any injection. We will also exclude vaccine recipients who had previously been vaccinated with HPVv or placebo-containing adjuvants.

### Interventions

HPVv injection in children and adults will be included as an intervention and compared with another vaccine, adjuvant or placebo. Trials comparing HPV vaccination with vaccines of the same virus type but with different brand name or different adjuvant will be treated as another node in the network meta-analysis. We will include novel trials implementing the two-dose schedule,<sup>15,16</sup> and nine or other valent HPVvs.<sup>17</sup> We will exclude trials involving combined vaccination. Next, we will also exclude phase II studies that did not mention the vaccine components. For trials that did not describe the vaccine type, we will contact the author of the published paper to obtain information on the vaccine type. If the vaccine type remains unknown, we will reconsider its dealing.

### Patient and public involvement

There is not any patient and public involvement (PPI) in the included studies.<sup>18</sup>

### Outcome measures

We will report, in a concise manner, adverse events that occur following HPV vaccination.<sup>1</sup> We define three primary outcomes: persistent pain, motor disorders and fatigue, all of which cause social anxiety. Next, we inspect all adverse events, hard outcome (severe adverse event or death) immune abnormalities and discontinuation of injections. We also define five the secondary outcomes, which are less associated with social anxiety, compared with the primary outcomes. Immune abnormalities are suspected as the causes of all other outcomes.

In this study, the acute phase is defined as the period from 0 to 4 weeks after injection with a vaccine, whereas the chronic phase is defined as the period thereafter. We do not limit the length of the observation period beyond 4 weeks.

The primary outcomes are

1. Topical pain: (1–1) headache, migraine, musculoskeletal pain or pain in other regions excluding the local/injection site, (1–2) pain in the local/injection site and (1–3) unclassified topical pain.
2. Motor disorders.
3. Fatigue, weariness and hypoactivity during the observation period, which recent reports stated as adverse events during the observation period.<sup>19 20</sup> The secondary outcomes include the following:
  4. All adverse events.
  5. Severe adverse events causing disabilities in daily life.
  6. Death.
  7. Immune abnormalities, such as autoantibody at laboratory findings and new-onset immune or autoimmune diseases.
  8. Discontinuation of injections.

### Confidence in certainty of evidence

We will perform quality assessment of study design or measurement instrument, risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness and imprecision and will estimate the importance of outcomes with range of point estimates, pooled mean, 95% CI and certainty rating with four grades (high, moderate, low and very low). The body of evidence consists of RCTs based on the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation approach.<sup>21 22</sup>

### Data sources and search strategy

We will search 17 electronic databases, namely AMED Allied and Complementary Medicine, BIOSIS Previews, CINAHL, the Cochrane Library, Derwent Drug File, EMBASE, Global Health, Google scholar, Ichu-shi (Japanese), JDreamIII (Japanese), Joanna Briggs Institute EBP Database, National Library of Medicine, Nursing@Ovid, PubMed, Scopus, TRIP and Web of Science, from January 2000 through September 2019 (updated through December 2019). The Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and text words for PubMed used is as follows: '(human papillomavirus vaccine [tiab] OR papillomavirus vaccine [tiab] OR hpv vaccine [tiab] OR cervarix OR gardasil OR silgard) AND (clinical [tiab] AND trial [tiab] OR clinical trials [MeSH Terms] OR clinical trial [publication type] OR random\* [tiab] OR random allocation [MeSH Terms] OR therapeutic use [MeSH subheading]) AND (adverse event\* [tiab] OR adverse effect\* [tiab]) AND (2000/01 : 2019/09[DP])'.

We will additionally search the following international databases and domestic trial registries of individual nations or regions to reduce publication bias: WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform,<sup>23</sup> in alphabetical order:

Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry,<sup>24</sup> Australia and New Zealand; Brazilian Clinical Trials Registry (ReBec),<sup>25</sup> Brazil; Chinese Clinical Trial Register,<sup>26</sup> China; Cuban Public Registry of Clinical Trials,<sup>27</sup> Cuba; EU Clinical Trials Register,<sup>28</sup> European

Union; The German Clinical Trials Register,<sup>29</sup> German; Clinical Trials Registry-India,<sup>30</sup> India; Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials,<sup>31</sup> Iran; Japan Primary Registries Network,<sup>32</sup> University hospital Medical Information Network Clinical Trials Registry (UMIN-CTR),<sup>33</sup> Japan Pharmaceutical Information Center,<sup>34</sup> and The Japan Medical Association Center for Clinical Trials,<sup>35</sup> Japan; Pan African Clinical Trial Registry,<sup>36</sup> Pan African Nations; Peruvian Clinical Trial Registry,<sup>37</sup> Peru; Clinical Research Information Service,<sup>38</sup> Republic of Korea; Sri Lanka Clinical Trials Registry,<sup>39</sup> Sri Lanka; Thai Clinical Trials Register,<sup>40</sup> Thailand; The Netherlands National Trial Register,<sup>41</sup> The Netherlands; ISRCTN.org,<sup>42</sup> UK; and The National Institute of Health Clinical Trials Register, ClinicalTrials.gov,<sup>43</sup> USA.

We will also refer to the website of Pharmaceuticals and Medicines Devices Agency,<sup>44</sup> and reports of the US Food and Drug Administration.<sup>45</sup>

Different search systems might require different search strategies in each electronic database or clinical trial registry. In this case, we will employ new search term each time to maintain absolute sensitivity of none of missing collections.

Language and publication type will not be limited. We will search for additional studies from the reference lists of all identified reports, including applicable meta-analyses and systematic reviews. If necessary, we will contact the authors of individual reports via email, to acquire additional data.

### Identification and selection of studies

First, we will identify eligible studies through electronic and manual searches, list the titles and abstracts in Endnote (Clarivate Analytics) and then exclude duplicates using the Endnote function 'remove duplicates'. Second, we will also identify eligible studies excluding duplicates of the same study by referring to study programme ID, manufacturer specific ID, national clinical trial ID and other identification ID.<sup>46</sup> Third, two reviewers (JT and YS) will independently check the reports at the title/abstract level and identify potential applicable studies. Third, we will assess their full texts and decide whether or not to include them based on the same eligibility criteria. Additionally, the two reviewers will also check the reference papers for relevant reviews. The reasons for exclusion will be indicated in a table. Any disagreements will be resolved by an additional reviewer (TK).

### Data extraction and risk of bias assessment

After completing the Endnote list, two reviewers (JT and YS) will independently extract the essential trial parameters using a standardised data abstraction form and assess the risk of bias. The standardised data extraction forms will include the trial characteristics (eg, first listed author, publication year, journal, country, institution and sponsor), participant characteristics (eg, number, sex, age and comorbidities), intervention elements (eg, control type, dose of vaccine and follow-up duration) and

outcomes. We will assess the risk of bias in the trials with the Cochrane tool.<sup>47</sup> We will regard trials with high risk of bias in one or more domains as ‘high risk’, those with low risk of bias in all domains as ‘low risk’ and those with unclear risk of bias in one or more domain as ‘unclear risk’.<sup>48</sup> Moreover, an additional review author (TK) will resolve any disagreements. We will also assess the inter-rater reliability of the two reviewers.

### Data items and management

The following data will be collected from each included study:

1. Characteristics of study: study ID in our own study, author(s) name, protocol, citation or publication, year(s) of study, year of publication, study programme ID/manufacture specific ID/national clinical trial ID/any identification ID, location, setting, number of centres, type of RCT, sample size, observation period, recruitment, with or without PPI, information for participants, contributor-ship statement/acknowledgements for participants and funding/sponsor.
2. Characteristics of study participants: gender distribution, mean (or median) and range of age, presence and type of comorbidity, number allocated into each group, number of dropouts and any medication at baseline.
3. Characteristics of interventions: number of vaccine doses, type of vaccine or placebo and add-on interventions (if any) and force-optimised treatment.
4. Outcome measures: time(s) of outcome measurement, whether the outcome was based on intention-to-treat or per protocol, methods of imputation and number of each measured outcome.

One reviewer (JT) will input the above data as variables into a data set in excel. This data set will be independently cross-checked by another reviewer (YS). They will consult with an additional reviewer (TK) regarding the variables with missing information. Nevertheless, if we cannot solve this problem, we will employ expert opinion.

### Data synthesis and analysis

First, in conventional analyses, we will compare HPVv with placebo, that is, saline, to detect differences between the vaccine itself and any harmful substance. Second, we will compare HPVv with an adjuvant, that is, AAHS or Al (OH)<sub>3</sub>, to detect difference between the vaccine and the adjuvant. Finally, we will compare HPVv with other vaccines to detect difference between vaccines. In these steps, we will identify the hazardous components.

In network meta-analyses, we will first provide a summary information on the eligible trials and summarise the geometry of the network of evidence using network plots. Second, we will conduct standard pairwise meta-analyses for all direct comparison to provide basic information on the trials using the ordinary DerSimonian-Laird-type random effect model. To measure treatment effects (efficacy and safety), we will use OR, risk ratio or risk difference, where appropriate. Interstudy heterogeneity,

publication biases or small study effects will be evaluated using conventional meta-analysis methods (eg, Q and I<sup>2</sup> statistics, tests of publication biases on funnel plots).

Next, we will compare the efficacy and safety using multivariate meta-analysis methods from the frequentists’ perspective.<sup>49</sup> To address the heterogeneity of treatment effects among the studies, we will use the multivariable random effect model. Quantitative evaluation of the comparative efficacy or safety, and the interstudy heterogeneity will be conducted using the multivariable meta-analysis methodology. We will conduct an inference for HPVv safety using the restricted maximum likelihood methods. Furthermore, we will estimate the probabilities of ranks by using the surface under the cumulative ranking curve of treatments based on the estimated models.<sup>50 51</sup> In addition, the consistency of the network will be examined using tests of local and global inconsistency and the side-splitting method. The local inconsistency tests will be used to evaluate loop inconsistency by (pseudo-) Wald tests of all the triangle loops on the network. Moreover, the global inconsistency test is the goodness-of-fit test, which uses Higgins’s design-by-treatment interaction model. In addition, we will evaluate concordance between direct and indirect evidence on the network for certain pairs of treatments by the side-splitting method. If any relevant sources of biases are found, we will further investigate the sources of evidence. Finally, sensitivity analyses will be performed to assess how these factors affect the overall results.

Subsequently, we will perform a direct comparison using a traditional pairwise meta-analysis method for cases where indirect comparison network is not performed or where there is a risk for a high level of inconsistency or heterogeneity. In such case, all types of HPV vaccination will be compared in one node with all placebos or adjuvants. This method will also be applicable to assess heterogeneity using the I<sup>2</sup> statistic,  $\chi^2$  test and visual inspection of the forest plots network meta-analysis.

### Sensitivity analysis

The following sources of possible clinical heterogeneity will be evaluated as effect modifiers in meta-regression or subgroup analyses as necessary. Systematic subgroup analysis is important to inspect each variation in all sensitivity analyses<sup>52</sup>: (1) sex (only female vs only male); (2) age group (>20 vs ≤20 years); (3) follow-up duration (chronic phase >30 days vs acute phase ≤30 days); (4) nation (Asian vs non-Asian); (5) comorbid immune deficiency disorders (eg, HIV+) (with vs without comorbidities); (6) dose (2 doses vs 3 doses); (7) VLPs (other vaccines including a same adjuvant vs other vaccines including each adjuvant); (8) risk of bias (‘high risk’ literature vs ‘unclear and low risk’ literature); (9) sample size (>300 vs ≤300); (10) sponsor (with vs without sponsors); (11) publication (published vs unpublished literature); and (12) marketing (pre vs post). In cases of limited small-sized comparison of potential modifiers in accomplishment of subgroup

analyses on these variables, we will conduct sensitivity analyses by omitting specific trials from the overall analysis.

Analyses will be performed using the Stata V.15 software.

## ETHICS AND DISSEMINATION

This pairwise network meta-analysis does not require ethics approval. The data used here are not individual nor private.

We have presented a study protocol consisting of an objective, rationale and methodology. This network meta-analysis will synthesise all the available direct and indirect evidence, incorporating comparison studies with placebos, adjuvants and other vaccines. We will provide the final results regarding the safety of HPVv with the following logistics.

RCTs allow high comparability between intervention and control groups. However, there should be a minimum sample size in each RCT to illustrate the effectiveness of an intervention because the sample size is sometimes too small to allow evaluation of adverse effects, which generally occur less frequently than the favourable effects. Furthermore, intension-to-treat analysis will underestimate the nature of effects, either positive or negative, whereas observational studies may include some inherent biases for causal inference. Thus, a meta-analysis is a suitable resolution to overcome such problems. Previous meta-analyses did not support the specified AEFIs with the use of HPVv.<sup>53–55</sup> Although another research group recently suggested a high risk of topical reactions at the injection site,<sup>19 20</sup> we must assess whether an adjuvant evokes such topical reactions.

There may be several methodological limitations in these analyses including heterogeneity of vaccines. To overcome this limitation, we will launch a network meta-analysis—a more comprehensive research method—focusing on vaccine components to avoid vaccine heterogeneity due to structural theory. However, this method has an essential problem of enclosing risk of failure, resulting in a triangle loop. We can avoid this risk by conducting a thorough literature search. In addition, a recently suggested two-dose policy and nine-valent HPVv can be used to construct a network triangle. Furthermore, if any adverse event occurs in any arm, we will know which component of the vaccine induces these adverse events. This systematic review with network meta-analysis will provide valid answers to the clinical and social anxiety regarding AEFIs caused by HPVv.

## Author affiliations

<sup>1</sup>Clinical Epidemiology, Hyogo College of Medicine, Nishinomiya, Japan

<sup>2</sup>Department of Data Science, The Institute of Statistical Mathematic, Tachikawa, Japan

<sup>3</sup>Sakanishi Internal Medicine and Pediatrics Clinic, Omuta, Japan

<sup>4</sup>Community Medical Support Institute, Saga University Faculty of Medicine, Saga, Japan

<sup>5</sup>Health Service, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan

**Contributors** All authors substantially contributed to designing of the study. JT contributed to conception of the study and drafting of the article. HN, YS and TK contributed to critical revision of the article for important intellectual contents. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

**Funding** The author(s) received grant for research from Japan Health Academy, Public interest foundation. The author(s) received no financial support for authorship nor publication of this article.

**Competing interests** None declared.

**Patient consent for publication** Not required.

**Provenance and peer review** Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

**Open access** This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited, appropriate credit is given, any changes made indicated, and the use is non-commercial. See: <http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/>.

## REFERENCES

- Hanley SJB, Yoshioka E, Ito Y, *et al*. Hpv vaccination crisis in Japan. *The Lancet* 2015;385.
- Kinoshita T, Ikeda S-ichi. Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination: just the facts. *Intern Med* 2015;54.
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. JAPAN.(in Japanese). Available: <http://www.mhlw.go.jp/bunya/kenkou/kekkaku-kansenshou28/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
- Slade BA, Leidel L, Vellozzi C, *et al*. Postlicensure safety surveillance for quadrivalent human papillomavirus recombinant vaccine. *JAMA* 2009;302:750–7.
- Lu B, Kumar A, Castellsagué X, *et al*. Efficacy and safety of prophylactic vaccines against cervical HPV infection and diseases among women: a systematic review & meta-analysis. *BMC Infect Dis* 2011;11:13.
- Walker TY, Elam-Evans LD, Singleton JA, *et al*. National, Regional, State, and Selected Local Area Vaccination Coverage Among Adolescents Aged 13–17 Years – United States, 2016. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2017;66:874–82.
- Berenson AB, Hirth JM, Chang M. Change in human papillomavirus prevalence among U.S. women aged 18–59 years, 2009–2014. *Obstet Gynecol* 2017;130:693–701.
- Mitchell TC, Casella CR. No pain no gain? adjuvant effects of alum and monophosphoryl lipid A in pertussis and HPV vaccines. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2017;47:17–25.
- Marichal T, Ohata K, Bedoret D, *et al*. Dna released from dying host cells mediates aluminum adjuvant activity. *Nat Med* 2011;17:996–1002.
- Salanti G, Higgins JPT, Ades AE, *et al*. Evaluation of networks of randomized trials. *Stat Methods Med Res* 2008;17:279–301.
- Lu G, Ades AE. Combination of direct and indirect evidence in mixed treatment comparisons. *Stat Med* 2004;23:3105–24.
- Shamseer L, Moher D, Clarke M, *et al*. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015: elaboration and explanation. *BMJ* 2015;349:g7647.
- Hutton B, Salanti G, Caldwell DM, *et al*. The PRISMA extension statement for reporting of systematic reviews incorporating network meta-analyses of health care interventions: checklist and explanations. *Ann Intern Med* 2015;162:777–84.
- PROSPERO. Available: <https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
- Romanowski B, Schwarz TF, Ferguson L, *et al*. Sustained immunogenicity of the HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine administered as a two-dose schedule in adolescent girls: five-year clinical data and modeling predictions from a randomized study. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* 2016;12:20–9.
- D'Addario M, Redmond S, Scott P, *et al*. Two-Dose schedules for human papillomavirus vaccine: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Vaccine* 2017;35:2892–901.
- Joura EA, Giuliano AR, Iversen O-E, *et al*. A 9-valent HPV vaccine against infection and intraepithelial neoplasia in women. *N Engl J Med* 2015;372:711–23.
- National Institute for Health Research. Patient and public involvement in health and social care research: a Handbook for researchers, 2014. Available: <https://www.nihr.ac.uk/about-us/CCF/funding/how-we-can-help-you/RDS-PPI-Handbook-2014-v8-FINAL.pdf>

19. Ogawa Y, Takei H, Ogawa R, *et al.* Safety of human papillomavirus vaccines in healthy young women: a meta-analysis of 24 controlled studies. *J Pharm Health Care Sci* 2017;3.
20. Arbyn M, Xu L, Simoons C, *et al.* Prophylactic vaccination against human papillomaviruses to prevent cervical cancer and its precursors. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2018;5.
21. GRADEHandbook Editors. GRADEHandbook. In: Schünemann H, Brozek J, Guyatt G, *et al.*, eds, 2012.
22. Zhang Y, Coello PA, Guyatt GH, *et al.* Grade guidelines: 20. assessing the certainty of evidence in the importance of outcomes or values and preferences-inconsistency, imprecision, and other domains. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2018;(17):pii: S0895-4356:31061-2. [Epub ahead of print].
23. The who international clinical trials registry platform. Available: <http://apps.who.int/trialsearch/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
24. Australian New Zealand clinical trials registry (ANZCTR). Available: <http://www.anzctr.org.au/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
25. Brazilian clinical trials registry (ReBec)(in Brazil). Available: <http://www.ensaiosclinicos.gov.br/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
26. Chinese clinical trial register (ChiCTR)(in Chinese). Available: <http://www.chictr.org.cn/index.aspx> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
27. Cuban public registry of clinical trials (RPCEC). Available: [registroclinico.sld.cu/en/home](http://registroclinico.sld.cu/en/home) [Accessed July 31, 2019].
28. Eu clinical trials register (EU-CTR). Available: <https://www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
29. The German clinical trials register (DRKS).. Available: [https://www.drks.de/drks\\_web/setLocale\\_EN.do](https://www.drks.de/drks_web/setLocale_EN.do) [Accessed July 31, 2019].
30. Clinical Trials Registry - India (CTRI). Available: <http://ctri.nic.in/Clinicaltrials/login.php> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
31. Iranian registry of clinical trials (IRCT). Available: <http://www.irct.ir/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
32. Japan primary registries network (JPRN).(in Japanese). Available: <https://rctportal.niph.go.jp/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
33. The university hospital medical information network clinical trials registry (UMIN-CTR). Available: <https://www.umin.ac.jp/ctr/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
34. Japan pharmaceutical information center (JapicCTI)(in Japanese). Available: <https://www.clinicaltrials.jp/cti-user/common/Top.jsp> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
35. The Japan Medical association center for clinical trials (JMACCT)(in Japanese). Available: <https://dbcentre3.jmacct.med.or.jp/JMACCT/App/JMACCT/WhatsNew.aspx> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
36. Pan African clinical trial registry (PACTR). Available: <https://pactr.samrc.ac.za/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
37. Peruvian clinical trial registry. Available: <https://ensayosclinicos-repec.ins.gob.pe/en/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
38. Clinical research information service (CRIS). Available: [https://cris.nih.gov.kr/cris/en/use\\_guide/cris\\_introduce.jsp](https://cris.nih.gov.kr/cris/en/use_guide/cris_introduce.jsp) [Accessed July 31, 2019].
39. Sri Lanka clinical trials registry (SLCTR). Available: <https://www.slctr.lk/trials> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
40. Thai clinical trials register (TCTR). Available: <http://www.clinicaltrials.in.th/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
41. The Netherlands national trial register (NTR)(in Dutch). Available: <http://www.trialregister.nl/trialreg/index.asp> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
42. ISRCTN.org. Available: <http://www.isrctn.com/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
43. The National Institute of health clinical trials register (ClinicalTrials.gov). Available: <https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/search/index> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
44. The pharmaceuticals and medicines devices agency (PMDA) website(in Japanese). Available: <https://www.pmda.go.jp/> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
45. US FDA reports. Available: <https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/vaccines> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
46. Jørgensen L, Gøtzsche PC, Jefferson T. Index of the human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine industry clinical study programmes and non-industry funded studies: a necessary basis to address reporting bias in a systematic review. *Syst Rev* 2018;7:8.
47. Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available: <http://handbook.cochrane.org> [Accessed July 31, 2019].
48. Follmann D, Elliott P, Suh I, *et al.* Variance imputation for overviews of clinical trials with continuous response. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1992;45:769-73.
49. White IR, Barrett JK, Jackson D, *et al.* Consistency and inconsistency in network meta-analysis: model estimation using multivariate meta-regression. *Res Synth Methods* 2012;3:111-25.
50. Salanti G, Ades AE, Ioannidis JPA. Graphical methods and numerical summaries for presenting results from multiple-treatment meta-analysis: an overview and tutorial. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2011;64:163-71.
51. Chaimani A, Higgins JPT, Mavridis D, *et al.* Graphical tools for network meta-analysis in STATA. *PLoS One* 2013;8:e76654.
52. Dechartres A, Altman DG, Trinquart L, *et al.* Association between analytic strategy and estimates of treatment outcomes in meta-analyses. *JAMA* 2014;312:623-30.
53. Coelho PLS, da Silva Caletini GL, Alvo FS, *et al.* [Safety of human papillomavirus 6, 11, 16 and 18 (recombinant): systematic review and meta-analysis]. *Rev Paul Pediatr* 2015;33:474-82. (in Portuguese).
54. Setiawan D, Lutjebroer J, Pouwels KB, *et al.* Immunogenicity and safety of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination in Asian populations from six countries: a meta-analysis. *Jpn J Clin Oncol* 2017;5:265-76.
55. Couto E, Sæterdal I, Juvet LK, *et al.* Hpv catch-up vaccination of young women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health* 2014;14:867.